IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| JOHN RUTHELL HENRY, | |
|-------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Appellant, | |
| vs. | Case No. SC02-804 |
| THE STATE OF FLORIDA, | |
| Appellee. | , |
| | / |
| ON DIRECT APPEAL FRO | M A FINAL ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT |
| COURT OF THE SIXTH JUI | DICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PASCO |
| COUNTY, FLORIDA, DI | ENYING THE APPELLANT'S POST |
| CONVICTION MOTION, FILI | ED PER THE PROVISIONS OF FLORIDA |

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.850, TO VACATE HIS JUDGMENT OF GUILT AND DEATH SENTENCE.

BAYA HARRISON Counsel for Appellant Silver Lake Road Post Office Drawer 1219 Monticello, FL 32345-1219

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, John Ruthell Henry, was the defendant in the lower tribunal, the trial court. He will be referred to as "Henry" or "the defendant." Appellee, the State of Florida, will be referred to as "the state."

The record on appeal is in six (I-VI) bound volumes with a blue cover on the front of each volume. The Clerk of the Circuit Court for Pasco County, Florida has provided a page number for each page of the entire record on appeal in the bottom right hand corner of each page. Thus, with one exception, when referring to the record on appeal, Henry uses the symbol "R" followed by a page number located in the lower right hand corner of the page or, for example with regard to page 45 of the record on appeal, "R. 45." When referring to testimony from the November 19 and 20, 2001 evidentiary hearing on the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion, the defendant uses the symbol "EH" followed by the page number which is typed in the <u>upper</u> right hand corner of each page.

It was agreed among counsel in the 3.850 proceeding that the records on appeal regarding Henry's two direct appeals (as well as the records on appeal in his Hillsborough County trials) are a part of this record as well.

Citation to those records on appeal will be done in the same manner as they were cited at the time. For example, references to the record on appeal in Henry's first Pasco County trial are by the letter "T" followed by a page number. References to the record on appeal in Henry's retrial in Pasco County are by the letters "OR" followed by a page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

A. Nature of the Case:

This is a direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida of the March 21, 2001 final Order (R. 844-846) of the lower tribunal in Pasco County, Florida Circuit Court Case No. 85-02685 CFAES denying Henry's complete second amended motion to vacate his judgment and death sentence (R. 736-791) for the murder of Suzanne Henry, filed per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

B. Course of the Proceedings Below:

Set out below, for the sake of clarity, is a chronology of the judicial proceedings regarding both the Hillsborough County homicide (<u>State v. John Henry</u>, Hillsborough County Circuit Court Case No. 85-12473) where Eugene Christian was the victim, and the Pasco County homicide, which is the subject matter of this appeal, where Suzanne Henry was the victim.

On January 15, 1986, a Hillsborough County, Florida grand jury returned an indictment against the defendant for the first-degree, premeditated murder of Eugene Christian. The indictment charged that Henry stabbed the victim with a sharp object on December 22, 1985.

On January 16, 1986, the defendant was indicted by a Pasco County, Florida grand jury and charged with the premeditated murder of his

estranged wife, Suzanne Henry. (R. 566) The Hillsborough case proceeded to jury trial on April 6, 1987 with the Hon. Donald C. Evans, Circuit Judge, presiding. On April 11, 1987, the jury found Henry guilty as charged. On April 13, 1987, a penalty phase proceeding was conducted. At the conclusion of this proceeding, the jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of 10-2. Judge Evans adjudicated Henry guilty and sentenced him to death on April 15, 1987.

The Pasco jury trial commenced on April 21, 1987 with the Hon. Ray E. Ulmer, Jr., Circuit Judge, presiding. (R. 645) Henry was represented during that trial by Robert Focht, Esq. Henry did not testify. Id. At the conclusion of the innocence/guilt phase, the jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged. Id. A penalty phase proceeding followed per the provisions of Section 921.141, Florida Statutes. Henry did not testify. After deliberations, the jury recommended, by a vote of 12-0, that the trial court impose the death penalty. Id. On May 21, 1987, the Trial Court accepted the jury's advisory recommendation sentencing Henry to death. (R. 646) In so doing, the Trial Court determined that the state had proven beyond a reasonable doubt that:

1. Henry had previously been convicted of a violent felony, second degree murder, Sec. 921.141(5)(a), Fla. Stat.

- 2. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, Sec. 921.141(5)(h), Fla. Stat.
- 3. The murder was committed in a cold, calculated manner without any pretense of moral justification (the "CCP" aggravator), Sec. 921.141(5)(i), Fla. Stat.

The Trial Court determined that Henry had not established any statutory or non-statutory mitigating circumstances for his actions. Henry v. State, 574 So. 2d at 74.

A direct appeal to this Court ensued. (R. 646) On January 3, 1991, this Court reversed the Pasco conviction, judgment and death sentence remanding the cause for a new trial. Henry v. State, 574 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 1991). In so doing, the Court disapproved of the Trial Court's decision to allow the state to introduce a significant amount of detailed evidence concerning the fact that, after killing Suzanne Henry, he also killed her son, Eugene Christian. On that same day, January 3, 1991, this Court reversed the Hillsborough judgment and death sentence (regarding the death of Eugene Christian), remanding the cause for a new trial as well. Henry v. State, 574 So. 2d 66 (Fla. 1991).

On October 7, 1991, Henry was retried for the death of Suzanne Henry by a new jury in Pasco with the Hon. Maynard F. Swanson, Jr.,

Circuit Judge, presiding. (R. 646) The defendant was represented by Hon. Richard Howard and Hugh Umsted, Esq. Mr. Henry did not testify during the proceeding. Judge Swanson strictly limited the state in terms of the evidence presented regarding Eugene Christian's death. At the conclusion of the guilt/innocence phase, the new jury found Mr. Henry guilty as charged. On October 10, 1991, the court reconvened for the penalty phase. Henry did not testify during this phase of the trial. At the conclusion of the penalty phase, the jury unanimously recommended that the Trial Court impose the death penalty. On October 18, 1991, Judge Swanson sentenced Henry to death. (OR. 958-964) This time, the Trial Court found that just two aggravating factors applied:

- 1. The defendant had previously been convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. <u>Id</u>.
 - 2. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. <u>Id</u>.

Judge Swanson found that no mitigating circumstances applied. (OR 961-964) After a timely filed direct appeal to this Court on November 7, 1991, Henry's conviction, judgment and death sentence were affirmed. Henry v. State, 649 So. 2d 1366 (Fla. 1994). Rehearing was denied.

Henry's defense counsel in the second trial, Hon. Richard Howard, is now a circuit court judge. In order to avoid confusion, Judge Howard is usually referred to herein as "defense counsel."

Henry's counsel then filed a timely petition for writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court of the United States per the provisions of Title 28, United States Code, Section 1257. That petition was denied on June 19, 1995.

Henry v. Florida, 115 S.Ct. 2591 (1995).

On August 24-31, 1992, Henry was retried regarding the death of Eugene Christian in Hillsborough with the Hon. Susan Bucklew, Circuit Judge, presiding. On August 28, 1992, the jury found Henry guilty as charged. The jury recommended death by a vote of 11-1. On October 16, 1992, Judge Bucklew sentenced the defendant to death. After the timely filing of a notice of appeal, the defendant again sought review of his judgment and sentence in the Supreme Court of Florida. He was again represented on appeal by the Office of Public Defender Marion Moorman. On December 15, 1994, the Supreme Court affirmed his judgment and death sentence. Henry v. State, 649 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1994).

On March 31, 1997, the Office of Florida Capital Collateral Regional Counsel for the middle district of Florida ("CCRC-Middle") filed an incomplete, duly sworn "shell" motion to vacate the defendant's conviction, judgment and sentence in the Pasco case per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. (R. 55-83) On or about June 11, 1999, CCRC-Middle filed an incomplete, duly sworn, first amended motion to

vacate the judgment and sentence. (R. 334-440) On or about December 22, 1999, the state filed a detailed, documented response to that motion. (R. 448-534, 566-603) CCRC-Middle then moved to withdraw citing a conflict of interest. (R. 605, 606, 609, 610, 956-969) On December 13, 2000, the undersigned was appointed to represent Henry per Florida's "Registry" statute, Sections 27.710 and 27.711, Florida Statutes (1998), as amended, and CCRC-Middle was allowed to withdraw. (R. 615, 626)

On December 18, 2000, a <u>Huff</u> hearing was held before Judge Swanson in Dade City, Florida, with the defendant, counsel for the state and the undersigned in attendance. (R. 968-981) At the conclusion of that hearing, Henry was afforded until March 21, 2001 to file a complete motion to vacate the defendant's judgment and sentence. <u>Id</u>.

On March 20, 2001, Henry and his counsel filed a duly sworn, complete second amended motion to set aside his judgment and death sentence with an appendix per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. (R. 644-735) On April 19, 2001, the state served a response thereto. (R. 822-831)

The evidentiary hearing on the 3.850 motion commenced on November 19, 2001 in Dade City and continued the next day. (R. 986-

² Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

1112) William Mosman, Ph. D., a forensic psychologist, testified for the defendant. (R. 992-1053, EH 7-67) Judge Howard testified for the state. (R. 1060-1109, EH 74-124) Both witnesses were subjected to cross-examination. The defense introduced 11 exhibits in evidence. As stated above, it was agreed among the parties with the approval of the Trial Court that the entire records on appeal in Henry's Pasco County Case No. 85-02685 CFAES, and Hillsborough County Case No. 85-12473, were a part of the record regarding this post conviction proceeding.

C. Disposition in the Lower Tribunal:

On March 21, 2002, the trial court rendered a brief (two and one-half pages) Order denying Henry's post conviction motion to vacate and set aside his judgment and death sentence. (R. 844-846) On March 27, 2002, Henry filed a timely notice of appeal of that final Order to this honorable Court. (R. 918, 919)

D. Statement on Jurisdiction:

This Court has jurisdiction to review the lower court's final order denying Henry's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 in this capital case. Art. V, Sec. 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(I); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(g).

E. Standard for Appellate Review:

This is a post conviction capital case involving mixed questions of law and fact. As such, the circuit court Order (R. 844-846) denying the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion is subject to plenary, *de novo* review except that deference is given to the Trial Court's findings of fact so long as there is competent and substantial evidence to support them. See Johnson v. Moore, 789 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 2001); Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1996).

F. Statement of the Facts:

The basic facts of the case in terms of how Suzanne Henry died are set forth in this Court's opinion rendered in Henry v. State, 574 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 1991) regarding the first trial.³ At the time of Suzanne Henry's death, Mr. Henry was married to her but they were estranged and living apart. On December 22, 1985, Mr. Henry came to her residence ostensibly to talk. Id. at 74. The couple began to argue, and the dispute ended with Mr. Henry killing Suzanne by stabbing her repeatedly in the neck. Henry then took Eugene Christian, Suzanne's five-year-old son from a previous marriage, from the house and drove to a rural location in Hillsborough County where, some nine hours later, he killed Christian by stabbing him in the neck as well. Henry confessed to both deaths. Id. at 74. The constitutionality of

_

The facts regarding the homicide are described in more detail below in the section of the brief related to the testimony presented during the retrial.

his confessions was raised in the first trial and on direct appeal, and resolved in favor of the state. Id. at 74.

Summary Of The Witness Testimony At The Second Trial

Because the essence of Henry's issue on appeal in this post conviction proceeding is alleged ineffective assistance provided by defense counsel during his second jury trial, the testimony presented during that retrial is summarized below. The "OR" citations employed in this section of the brief are to the record on appeal in that second trial. Appellant begins by summarizing the testimony presented by the state during the guilt/innocence phase of that retrial. On December 21, 1985, Curtis Clark, the brother of Suzanne Henry, kept Eugene overnight while Suzanne was at work. Curtis drove them both home the next day. At that time, Suzanne told Curtis that she had evicted Mr. Henry and was angry at him. (OR. 290)

Ray McAddams lived across the street from Suzanne Henry. He stated that on the morning of December 22, 1985, a person he could only identify as a black male, drove up to Suzanne's house, knocked on the door, and was admitted. (OR. 299)

Marion Crooker lived next door to the Henry duplex. On December 22, 1985, at about 1:00 or 2:00 p.m., after hearing a door slam at the duplex, he went to investigate and saw Eugene sitting in the passenger seat of an old, blue-green Chevrolet. He then saw a person he could only identify as black, not knowing if the person was male or female, get into the car and drive away. (OR. 304) Crooker added that he had previously witnessed an argument between Suzanne and Mr. Henry, where Suzanne told Mr. Henry to take his clothes and get out of the house. Crooker could not say how long before December 22, 1985 that was. (OR. 307, 308)

Bonnie Cangrow, Suzanne's sister, testified that on December 21, 1985, she gave Suzanne a ride to work. (OR. 309) Suzanne had a ride with someone else the next night, but when Bonnie called her at work and was told that Suzanne never showed up, she went to Suzanne's house. Cangrow found the door locked. The bedroom light and the television were on. Suzanne was not in bed, so she left. (OR. 311) She returned the next day, found everything the same and went to her neighbor Dorothy's house to see if she knew anything about Suzanne, but Dorothy did not. Cangrow was also concerned because Eugene was not there. (OR. 312) Cangrow returned to the house, unlocked the door, went in and found Suzanne's body. (OR. 313) Cangrow noted that the Henrys' relationship was very

rocky, and one time she witnessed Mr. Henry sitting on top of Suzanne, slapping her face. (OR. 316) Cangrow noted also that Suzanne was a large woman, 5'5" and 165 pounds, who would not tolerate anyone hitting her, and would hit back. She added that Suzanne owned gold jewelry, and that after December 22, 1985, she (Cangrow) did not find any of it or any money in Suzanne's house. (OR. 316) Cangrow also testified that Suzanne had once brandished a knife at a woman she found Mr. Henry with, and that he stopped her from hurting the woman. (OR. 319, 320)

Dorothy Clark, a sister of Suzanne Henry and Bonnie Cangrow, and the wife of Curtis Clark, was at a convenience store the morning of December 23, 1985, when Mr. Henry came in, bought a beer and asked her if she had seen Suzanne that day. Later that day, her sister, Bonnie, came into the store hysterically screaming that she had found Suzanne dead. (OR. 324) Ms. Clark described Suzanne as heavy-set and tough, not afraid to fight. (OR. 326) She confirmed that the relationship between the Henrys was rocky. (OR. 327)

Deputy Dale Neuner was dispatched to the Henry home on December 23, 1985, and found Suzanne's body. (OR. 330)

John Mathis stated that in December of 1985, he owned a 1978 Chevrolet. On December 22, 1985, Henry borrowed the car and did not

return it. The car was returned to Mathis by the police a week later. (OR. 388) Mathis added that he had seen Mr. Henry smoke crack cocaine, but could not specifically recall whether he used it on December 22nd. (OR. 390)

Dr. Joan Wood, the Sixth Judicial Circuit Chief Medical Examiner, examined Suzanne's body at about 7:00 p.m. on December 23rd. She determined that the victim had been dead about 24 to 36 hours, had sustained thirteen stab wounds, and had bruises on her upper body. (OR. 407) She noted that there were no wounds associated with defending against a knife attack. (OR. 412) Dr. Wood added that the victim would have survived five or ten minutes after all the injuries were inflicted and might have remained conscious for three to five of those minutes. (OR. 422)

Rosa Mae Thomas testified that Mr. Henry lived with her after being evicted by Suzanne, that she saw him on the morning of the 22nd -- but not again until 8:00 or 9:00 p.m. on December 23rd. (OR. 431) They (Rosa Mae and Mr. Henry) were then given a ride to a motel by Henry's brother, Willie Henry. At about 10:00 p.m. that night, the police came, arrested Henry and took him away. (OR. 435) Thomas noted that, on several occasions, Suzanne had come to her house and initiated an altercation with

her. On one occasion, Suzanne was arrested in Ms. Thomas' front yard. (OR. 437)

Willie Henry, the defendant's brother, testified that he gave Mr. Henry and Rosa Mae a ride to the motel on December 23rd. (OR. 441)

Detective William Ferguson was dispatched to the Twilight Motel where Detective Wilbur had custody of Mr. Henry. Detective Ferguson found wet clothes, wet shoes and two towels with blood on them in the motel room. (OR. 449)

Mary Cortese, a serologist, found human blood on a shirt and towel found in the motel, but she could not establish a particular blood type. (OR. 454-56)

Detective Fay Wilbur stated that when he arrived, Suzanne's apartment was not in disarray but a knife was missing. There was blood on the wall and drapes and around the body. (OR. 475) Henry did not appear to be under the influence of either alcohol or drugs while at the motel. Henry told him that he did not know where Suzanne or Eugene was. After further conversation, Henry conceded that he knew where they were and led Wilbur and other officers to Eugene's body and the Chevrolet. (OR. 502) Detective Wilbur added that Henry told him that he went to the house to give Eugene a Christmas present and got into a fight with Suzanne. Henry

went on to state that Suzanne got a knife and cut him. He then stabbed her, took Eugene and left. Mr. Henry admitted killing Eugene as well. (OR. 505)

Defense counsel presented no testimony or other evidence on behalf of Mr. Henry during the guilt/innocence phase of the capital trial.

During closing arguments, the prosecutor painted Mr. Henry as a cold-blooded murderer who virtually tortured Suzanne before she died by repeatedly stabbing her in the throat, in the process of killing her. He emphasized the murder of Eugene Christian as well. Defense counsel, in closing arguments, suggested that Mr. Henry acted in self defense, although he had offered no proof of same. (OR. 556-572, 601-605)

The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged. (OR. 665)

The state's first witness at the penalty phase was Debbie Fuller whose deposition was read into the record by stipulation. She testified that in August of 1975 she was living with her grandmother, Irene Wilson, and Patty Roddy, Mr. Henry's first wife. Mr. Henry and Patty were in the process of getting a divorce. (OR. 680) Sometime during that month, Mr. Henry had come to their house. Patty went outside with the defendant, despite Ms. Fuller's warnings not to do so. Ms. Fuller called the police and

then saw Mr. Henry and Patty in the car, struggling. She then heard Patty scream. (OR. 684) When Ms. Fuller got to the car, Mr. Henry got out and walked away. Ms. Fuller then reached into the car and discovered that Patty had been stabbed. (OR. 686)

Gloria Nix testified that she lived across the street from Ms. Fuller, Irene Wilson and Patty Roddy in August, 1975. After hearing an argument outside, Ms. Nix went to investigate and saw Mr. Henry striking Patty. Ms. Nix saw Patty's hand fall out when Ms. Nix opened the car door, and saw Mr. Henry walk away. (OR. 689)

Detective Wilbur returned to the stand and stated that he had arrested Henry in August of 1975 for the murder of Patty Roddy. He added that Henry pled guilty to second degree murder. (OR. 695)

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