#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN RUTHELL HENRY,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC02-804 Lower Tribunal No. 85-2685 CFAES

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLIE CRIST ATTORNEY GENERAL

#### CANDANCE M SABELLA

Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief, Capital Appeals Florida Bar No. 0445071 Westwood Center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 801-0600 (813) 356-1292 Facsimile

#### COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant's first claim is that trial counsel was ineffective in the quilt phase of Henry's retrial for the murder of Suzanne Henry in Pasco County. He contends that counsel's decision to argue self defense with an alternative argument of second degree murder constitutes ineffective assistance because neither position was supported by the law or the facts. Trial counsel clearly considered the alternative defenses and rejected same based on his review of the prior trial and the harmful results of the State's cross-examination of the mental health witnesses. Counsel is not deemed ineffective solely because current counsel disagrees with trial counsel's strategic decisions. Even if another defense may have been more effective, Henry has not shown that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.

ISSUE II: Appellant next urges that trial counsel should have argued that Henry lacked the ability to form the requisite intent to commit first degree murder due to the ingestion of cocaine prior to killing Suzanne that exacerbated his chronic psychotic condition. Neither the evidence nor the law support the intoxication defense and as the defenses presented were based on counsel's tactical decisions, counsel cannot be deemed

ineffective for failing to present the intoxication defense or for failing to assert the alleged <u>Gurganus</u> defense.

ISSUE III & ISSUE IV: Appellant claims in his Points 3 and 4 that counsel was ineffective for failing to present expert testimony in mitigation at Henry's penalty phase. As counsel in the instant case was aware of the now urged evidence and chose to not present it based on a reasoned determination that it was potentially more harmful to the defendant, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective. While current counsel may not agree with the strategy taken by Judge Howard during his representation of Henry, that does not support a finding that his tactical decision constitutes deficient performance or prejudice. Finally, even if counsel's strategic decision could constitute deficient performance, Henry has failed to show that he was prejudiced.

ISSUE V: Appellant's claim based on Ring, infra. is procedurally barred and not properly before this Court. Further, aggravating factors in Florida are not elements of the offense, but are constitutionally mandated capital sentencing guidelines. Given that a defendant faces the statutory maximum sentence of death upon conviction of first degree murder, the employment of further proceedings to examine the assorted "sentencing selection factors," does not violate due process.

The plain language of <u>Ring</u> establishes that it comes into play when a defendant is exposed to a penalty exceeding the maximum allowable under the jury's verdict. Because Henry was death eligible upon conviction, <u>Ring</u> does not invalidate his death sentence or render Florida's sentencing scheme unconstitutional. Moreover, based on Henry's prior violent felony conviction, error, if any, is harmless.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING HENRY'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE GUILT/INNOCENCE PHASE OF THE RETRIAL?

Appellant's first claim is that trial counsel was ineffective in the guilt phase of Henry's retrial for the murder of Suzanne Henry in Pasco County. He contends that counsel's decision to argue self defense with an alternative argument of second degree murder constitutes ineffective assistance because neither position was supported by the law or the facts. It is the State's position that this claim is unsupported by the law and the facts of this case. Accordingly, the lower court properly found that Henry was afforded reasonably effective assistance of counsel.

At the evidentiary hearing below, trial counsel testified that he thoroughly reviewed the file and, after consultation with his experts, co-counsel and appellant, he decided to argue that Suzanne came at Henry with a knife and that the murder was in self defense. (R V6/1070) Trial counsel testified that his plan was to attack the victim as "she was not the type of victim a jury could warm up to." (R V6/1069) He was able to argue this defense based on evidence presented by the State without having to give up opening and closing. (R V6/1083)

At trial, the State presented Detective Wilbur, who testified that Henry told him he had gone to Suzanne's house to give a Christmas present to Eugene. While he was there, Suzanne had become very angry with him and told him to leave. (OR V4/503) She had gotten a knife and cut him, whereupon, he became enraged, overpowered, and stabbed her. Henry could not recall how many times he had stabbed Suzanne. (OR V4/508) The State also presented Bonnie Cangrow, who described Suzanne as a "big girl" about 5'5" and 165 pounds who wouldn't lay down for anyone and would hit back. (OR V3/318) Ms. Cangrow recounted on cross-examination an incident where Suzanne had threatened a girl with a knife. Appellant had stopped her from going after the girl. (OR V3/319-20)

In addition to self defense, trial counsel's indirect back up theory was second degree murder - depraved mind based on the sheer ferocity of the attack. (R V6/1086) He testified at the evidentiary hearing that, "If you can show to the jury that the killing was either one not covered by felony murder or one not covered by premeditation, if you can bring up the fact that this looks like it was some sort of a mindless, non-premeditated killing, there you go with depraved mind, so you get a second degree." (R V6/1086) He further noted that although at the time of this trial Florida did not recognize a diminished mental

capacity defense, it did not preclude him from arguing depravity because of the number of wounds and going for second degree murder. (R V6/1087) Judge Howard disagreed with collateral counsel that he would have been in a better posture to put on an insanity defense the second time around because of the limitation of evidence concerning Eugene and the striking of the cold, calculated and premeditated factor. He noted that Dr. Berland recommended against using a mental health defense as it was subject to serious attack on the specific intent issue in Pasco County. (R V6/1071) He also noted that in his review of the doctors' prior testimony, Assistant State Attorney Van Allen was able to discount in cross-examination all of the mental health issues raised at the first trial. (R V6/1094)

Thus, contrary to collateral counsel's assertion that neither defense was legally viable, the record shows that counsel was, nevertheless, successful in being able to argue them to the jury and obtain jury instructions on same. The trial record shows that counsel argued to the jury that Suzanne was violent, that she attacked Henry with a knife and that the murder was in self defense. (OR V5/560, 563-67, 570-72) Trial counsel also rebutted the State's argument with regard to self defense, noting that Henry had no legal obligation to retreat and that a number of other weapons were available to Suzanne

once he disarmed her. (OR V5/602-604) He also noted that the State had addressed the second degree murder instruction and that the jury could find second degree - depraved mind, not requiring premeditation. (OR V5/601) Based on the evidence and the defenses presented, trial counsel obtained a jury instruction on both theories of defense. (OR V7/903-07, 909-10) The jury was specifically told that if it found Suzanne Henry attempted to murder him or attempted to commit either an aggravated assault or aggravated battery, then he could use such force as necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm.¹ (OR V7/903)

In evaluating whether an attorney's conduct is deficient, "there is 'a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance,'" and the defendant "bears the burden of proving that counsel's representation was unreasonable under prevailing professional

Curiously, collateral counsel chastises trial counsel for presenting a diminished capacity defense while asserting that he was ineffective for not presenting this drug ingestion/psychosis which is essentially a diminished capacity defense that is inadmissible. [See Issue II, infra.] Trial counsel actually presented a second degree - depraved mind argument based on rage induced by Suzanne's attack. Judge Howard testified at the evidentiary hearing that although at the time of this trial Florida did not recognize a diminished mental capacity defense, it did not preclude him from arguing depravity because of the number of wounds and going for second degree murder. V6/1087) Thus, he deftly managed to present this argument without being limited by the diminished capacity case law.

norms and that the challenged action was not sound strategy." Brown v. State, 755 So. 2d 616, 628 (Fla. 2000) (quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688-89 (1984)). This Court has held that defense counsel's strategic choices do not constitute deficient conduct if alternative courses of action have been considered and rejected. See Spencer v. State, 2002 WL 534441 (Fla. April 11, 2002); Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 220 (Fla. 1999). Moreover, "[t]o establish prejudice [a defendant] 'must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.'" Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694); See Valle v. State, 778 So. 2d 960, 965-966 (Fla. 2001); <u>Shere</u> at 220. Trial counsel clearly considered the alternative defenses and rejected same based on his review of the prior trial and the harmful results of the State's cross-examination of the mental health witnesses.

Nevertheless, collateral counsel urges reversal based on a claim that another viable defense was available. "Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective merely because current counsel disagrees with trial counsel's strategic decisions." Stewart v. State, 801 So. 2d 59, 65-66 (Fla. 2001). Even if another

defense may have been more effective, Henry has not shown that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. See <u>Lusk v. State</u>, 498 So. 2d 902, 905 (Fla. 1986) (trial counsel's decision to rely on self-defense was a strategic choice which did not fall outside the acceptable range of competent choices.) The lower court properly denied this claim.

### **ISSUE II**

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT HENRY DID NOT SUFFER PREJUDICE AS A RESULT OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE GUILT/INNOCENCE PHASE OF THE RETRIAL? (AS STATED BY APPELLANT)

Appellant, relying upon <u>Gurganus v. State</u>, 451 So. 2d 817, 822-23 (Fla. 1984), next urges that trial counsel should have argued that Henry lacked the ability to form the requisite intent to commit first degree murder due to the ingestion of cocaine prior to killing Suzanne that exacerbated his chronic psychotic condition. As previously noted, defense counsel specifically testified that he rejected presenting this defense because he was concerned about the facts that would come out with a mental health defense (R V6/1071) and that "strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable." Burger v. Kemp, 483 U.S. 776 (1987), quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 812 (1984). Moreover, even if counsel's strategic decisions were reviewable, this claim is baseless in law and fact and should be denied.

First, contrary to collateral counsel's assertions, a defense that "Henry lacked the ability to form the requisite intent to commit first degree murder due to the ingestion of cocaine prior to killing Suzanne that exacerbated his chronic

psychotic condition," is not admissible under <u>Gurganus v. State</u>, 451 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 1984). This Court in Gurganus held that evidence of voluntary intoxication or use of medication is admissible to show lack of specific intent. Subsequently, in Bunney v. State, 603 So. 2d 1270, 1273 (Fla. 1992), this Court further noted that evidence of certain commonly understood conditions that are beyond one's control, such as epilepsy, infancy, or senility are also admissible. Subsequently in <u>State</u> v. Bias, 653 So. 2d 380, 382-383 (Fla. 1995), this Court synthesized its decisions in Dillbeck v. State, 643 So. 2d 1027 (Fla. 1994), <u>Bunney</u>, <u>Chestnut v. State</u>, 538 So. 2d 820 (Fla. 1989), and <u>Gurganus</u> and set forth limitations regarding the admissibility of evidence of mental disease or defect within the defense of voluntary intoxication to ensure that the defense of voluntary intoxication is not utilized as a label for what in reality is a defense based upon the doctrine of diminished capacity.

More recently, in <u>Spencer</u>, this Court reaffirmed the holding in <u>Bias</u>, stating:

While not specifically addressed by the lower court, we conclude that the evidence of Spencer's "dissociative state" would not have been admissible during the guilt phase of the trial. "[E]vidence of most mental conditions is simply too misleading to be allowed in the guilt phase." Dillbeck v. State, 643 So.2d 1027, 1029 (Fla.1994). While evidence of voluntary intoxication and of other commonly

understood conditions that are beyond one's control, such as epilepsy, are admissible in cases involving specific intent, see id.; see also Bunney v. State, 603 So.2d 1270 (Fla.1992); Gurganus v. State, 451 So.2d 817, 822-23 (Fla.1984) ("When specific intent is an element of the crime charged, evidence of voluntary intoxication ... is relevant."), there are limitations regarding the admissibility of evidence of mental disease or defect within the defense of voluntary intoxication. See State v. Bias, 653 So.2d 380, 382-83 (Fla.1995). As this Court explained in Bias, such limitations are required "to ensure that the defense of voluntary intoxication is not utilized as a label for what in reality is a defense based upon the doctrine of diminished capacity." Id. Further, "[w]e continue to adhere to the rule that expert evidence of diminished capacity is inadmissible on the issue of mens rea." Id. Thus, we agree with the lower court that counsel's failure to present this evidence did not constitute deficient performance and we affirm the lower court's denial of this claim.

<u>Spencer v. State</u>, 2002 WL 534441 \*5-(Fla. 2002)(emphasis added)

No evidence that Henry was truly intoxicated at the time of the offense and no expert testimony was presented at the evidentiary hearing that would in any way support a finding that this newly asserted claim of defense would satisfy the test set forth in <u>Bias</u>. In fact, trial counsel was not even questioned as to his reasons for not presenting such a defense.

Moreover, unlike <u>Bias</u>, where the defendant had consumed 11 beers at the time of the crime, the evidence in the instant case refuted that Henry was truly intoxicated when he murdered Suzanne Henry. In order to successfully assert the defense of

voluntary intoxication, "the defendant must come forward with evidence of intoxication at the time of the offense sufficient to establish that he was unable to form the intent necessary to commit the crime charged." Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 485 n.12 (Fla. 1998) (quoting Linehan v. State, 476 So. 2d 1262, 1264 (Fla. 1985) (emphasis added). Thus, even if Henry was now suggesting that a straight forward voluntary intoxication defense should have been presented, the evidence below in no way supported such a defense.

At trial, Dr. James Fessler testified that Henry told him he had smoked crack cocaine, then borrowed a car to drive to her house. Henry told him he felt okay, that he did not feel messed up at that time. He later became angry when she asked him to leave. He told Dr. Fessler that she threatened him with a knife, he got the knife away from her and then just lost control. (OR V6/720-21) The doctor testified that the effects of crack cocaine fall off by fifteen, twenty minutes; they do not typically last very long. (OR V6/722) He concluded that when Henry reached the house he was in contact with reality and not having bizarre thoughts. (OR V6/723) Dr. Fessler also noted that, according to Dr. Berland's report, Henry was not suffering from any organic brain dysfunction. (OR V6/724) It was his opinion that Henry was able to appreciate the consequences of

what he was doing at the time, that he could distinguish right from wrong. (OR V6/726)

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